THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 19 2017

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

S.C. SUPREME COURT

James O. Spence, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2016-000588

David R. GooldyPetitioner

vs.

The Storage Center – Platt Springs, LLCRespondent

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

James Randall Davis; SC Bar No. 1580
Post Office Box 489
Lexington, South Carolina 29071
(803) 359-2512
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:

Robert E. Stepp, Esquire
Bess J. DuRant, Esquire
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Attorney for Respondent

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. BY CONCLUDING THAT THE MASTER ERRED IN DETERMINING GOOLDY WAS ENTITLED TO THE PRESUMPTION OF AN EASEMENT BASED ON THE DEED'S REFERENCE TO THE LOFLIN PLAT BASED ON THE LANGUAGE IN THE LOFLIN DEED *DESCRIBING* THE PROPERTY AS CONTAINING 0.68 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS CONTRADICTS AND MISAPPLIES SUPREME COURT CASE LAW AS TO IMPLIED EASEMENTS.

- II. BY CONCLUDING THAT THE MASTER ERRED IN DETERMINING THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE INITIAL CONVEYANCE OF THE 0.68 ACRE TRACT DEMONSTRATED THE PARTY'S INTENT TO CREATE AN EASEMENT, THE SOUTH CAROLINA COURT OF APPEALS MISAPPLIED THE STANDARD OF REVIEW OF AN APPELLANT COURT WHICH IN THIS CASE WOULD BE SUSTAINING THE DECISION OF THE MASTER UNLESS THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE DECISION OF THE MASTER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner David R. Goodly (or "Petitioner") and Respondent The Storage Center – Platt Springs, LLC ("The Storage Center" or "Respondent") are owners of adjacent property located on South Lake Drive also known as SC Highway No., 6 (hereinafter referred to as "South Lake Drive") in Lexington County, South Carolina.

On January 24, 2002 Petitioner purchased his Property with improvements thereon. R. p. 103, lines 10-16. The deed to the Petitioner's property referenced a plat which showed a fifty (50') foot road abutting Petitioner's property on the southern side. *Id.*, p. 25, lines 14-15.

On September 27, 2007, Respondent purchased the abutting property (7.35 acres) to the Petitioner's property. Respondent's property bordered the Petitioner's property on the northern, western and southern sides. Defendants Exhibits C & J, R. pp. 392; 396.

After Respondent purchased the 7.35 acres tract, a dispute arose between Petitioner and Respondent as to the right of the Petitioner to have access for ingress/egress over the fifty (50') foot road as shown on the plat referenced in the Petitioner's deed. After an attempted resolution of the access issue by the parties, Respondent installed a metal post – wire cable barricade blocking Petitioner's access over the fifty (50') foot road. R. p. 350, Lines 17-19.

On February 1, 2010, Petitioner filed a lawsuit against The Storage Center. (Compl.) In his lawsuit, Petitioner asserted four causes of action: (1) Declaratory Judgment, Easement by Implication or Estoppel, (2) Declaratory Judgment, Easement by Prescription, (3) Estoppel – Temporary and Permanent Injunctive Relief, and (4) Negligence/Gross Negligence/Intentional Act, Denial of Property Rights. Petitioner argues that he is entitled to an easement over The Storage Center's property because his deed, along with the deeds of his predecessor-in-title, reference a plat which showed a fifty (50') foot road abutting Petitioner's property on the southern side. Complaint R. pp. 37-38.

On February 25, 2010, Petitioner filed a motion for preliminary injunction, seeking an order preventing The Storage Center from interfering with his access to the driveway. R. p. 49. On April 23, 2010, the circuit court denied Petitioner's request. *Id.*, p. 1. The circuit court also referred this matter to the Master-in-Equity ("Master"), upon the consent of both parties.

In response to Petitioner's Complaint, The Storage Center filed an answer, in which it asserted several affirmative defenses and pled a counterclaim against Petitioner for encroaching and trespassing on The Storage Center's property. *Id.*, p. 42. Specifically, The Storage Center denied that any road ever existed and also denied that Petitioner had any easement rights over property owned by The Storage Center. *Id.*

Petitioner and Respondent both filed motions for summary judgment. *See id.*, pp. 51-52. Notice of Mot. & Motion for Summ. J. of Plaintiff, dated February 1, 2011; *id.* pp. 54-57, Notice of Mot. & Motion for Summ. J. of Respondent dated January 31, 2011. The Master denied the cross motions for summary judgment because there were material issues of fact. *Id.*, p. 2.

On October 25, 2012, the case was tried before the Master. The Master granted a directed verdict to The Storage Center with respect to Petitioner's claim for easement by prescription because Petitioner failed to establish use that was adverse or under a claim of right for twenty years. *Id.*, p. 193, line 3 to p. 203, line 19. On July 29, 2013, the Master issued his order, in which he found and concluded (1) that Petitioner has access over the "road that borders the Petitioner's property on the southern side"; (2) that Petitioner is entitled to \$2,500 for lost income when he had to construct an alternate makeshift entrance; and (3) that Petitioner is entitled to \$7,500 in punitive damages because The Storage Center prevented Petitioner access to the strip of land. *Id.*, pp. 3-22.

The Storage Center timely filed its motion to alter or amend the judgment on August 12, 2013. *Id.*, pp. 74-83. In its motion, The Storage Center set out numerous grounds as to why the Master should reconsider the Trial Order. On November 15, 2013, the Master heard The Storage Center's motion. *Id.*, pp. 407-452. On March 13, 2014, the Master issued its Order denying The Storage Center's motion to reconsider. *Id.*, pp. 23-32.

Respondent filed its Notice of Appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on April 9, 2014. Oral arguments were presented on November 4, 2015. By Order dated December 9, 2015, the South Carolina Court of Appeals reversed the decision of the Master indicating the following reasons:

“We find the Master erred in determining Gooldy was entitled to the presumption of an easement based on the deed’s reference to the Loflin plat.”

“We find the Master also erred in determining the evidence surrounding the initial conveyance of the .68 acre tract demonstrated the parties’ intent to create an easement.”

On January 11, 2016, Petition for Rehearing was filed by the Petitioner. By Order dated February 19, 2016, Petitioner’s Petition for Rehearing was denied.

On March 21, 2016, Petitioner filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari. By Order dated May 20, 2017, Petitioner’s Petitioner for Writ of Certiorari was granted.

STATEMENT OF FACTS
(Facts Prior to Litigation)

January 24, 2002 Petitioner purchased the subject property, with improvements thereon, located on South Lake Drive (also known as S.C. Highway 6) in Lexington County. Petitioner has used the property for his chiropractic practice. R. p. 103, lines 5-11. The legal description for the Petitioner’s property read as follows:

All those certain piece, parcel of lot of land, with all improvements thereon, situate, lying and being on the western side of S.C. Highway No. 6. approximately 580 feet south of the intersection of Platt Springs Road and S.C. Highway No. 6, near the town of Lexington, in the County of Lexington, State of South Carolina, and being shown and designated on a plat prepared for James T. Loflin by Robert E. Collingwood, Jr., Reg. Surveyor, dated December 10, 1985, and recorded in the Office of the RMC for Lexington County in Plat Book 212G at page 204. The within described property contains 0.68 acre more or less.

R. p. 375, Plaintiff’s Exhibit 1.

The deed to the Petitioner’s property referenced a plat which showed a fifty (50’) foot road abutting Petitioner’s property on the southern side and on the east by S.C. Highway 6. *Id.*, p. 109, lines 14-16; *id.*, p. 377, Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2. The seller’s representative told Petitioner at the time of purchase that this fifty (50’) foot road was the access from S.C. Highway 6 to the

purchaser's property. *Id.*, p. 114, lines 1-10. Petitioner used this access as his only access to his property until the barricading of the access by the Respondent in July 2009. *Id.*, p. 114, lines 19-21. Petitioner indicates that there were no other accesses to his property besides the road area in question. *Id.*, p. 114, lines 19-21. Petitioner described the fifty (50') foot road area as having an asphalt apron coming off S.C. Highway 6 covering a culvert, followed by a gravel area on the fifty (50') foot road area, which was flat and had been maintained and went to the back of the Petitioner's property. *Id.*, p. 107, line 22 to p. 108, line 3. There was a small hedge of trees lying between the fifty (50') foot road area and an adjoining subdivision by the name of Westchester Estates. *Id.*, p. 111, lines 10-18.

On September 27, 2007, Respondent purchased the abutting property (7.35 acres) to the Petitioner's property (Respondent's property bordered the Petitioner's property on the northern, western and southern sides. Both properties bordered S.C. Highway 6. Respondent's property wrapped like a horseshoe around three sides of the Petitioner's property.). *Id.*, pp. 392-393, 396-398, Defendant's Exhibits C & J.

Petitioner's and Respondent's properties both have a common grantor, Congaree Associates, a South Carolina Limited Partnership (hereinafter referred to as "Congaree"). *Id.*, pp. 379-391, Plaintiff's Exhibit 11. Petitioner's property was subdivided from a larger tract owned by Congaree. R. p. 375, Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 (See Derivation). Congaree first conveyed the Petitioner's property to James T. Loflin by deed dated September 15, 1986, and recorded in the Register of Deeds Office for Lexington County on September 23, 1986 in Book 837 at Page 36. *Id.*, p. 394, Defendant's Exhibit D. The legal description in the Loflin deed contains the identical description as the Petitioner's deed's legal description, as does each deed in the chain-of-title to

the Petitioner's property -- all of the deeds in the chain-of-title reference the same plat referenced in Petitioner's deed. *Id.*, pp. 379-391, Plaintiff's Exhibit 11.

The Petitioner's deed is in the chain-of-title of the Respondent's property. *Id.* After Respondent purchased the 7.35 acres tract, Respondent's representatives notified the Petitioner of their belief that the Petitioner did not have the right to have access for ingress/egress over the fifty (50') foot road as shown on the plat referenced in the Petitioner's deed, which the Petitioner disputed. *Id.*, p. 117, lines 11-25.

After an attempted resolution of the access issue by the parties, Respondent installed two metal posts in the fifty (50') foot road connected by a wire cable with "No Trespassing" signs attached to the wire cable blocking Petitioner's access over the fifty (50') foot road from S.C. Highway 6. *Id.*, p. 124, line 25 to p. 125, line 16. After Respondent blocked his access, Petitioner created a "makeshift" entrance on the northern side of his property, buying material and equipment, and doing the work himself to establish the alternate access for his patients. *Id.*, p. 125, line 23-25; p. 133, lines 1-19.

Thereafter, this litigation ensued.

**Evidence as to Intent of Congaree Associates Deed to
James Loflin, Predecessor-in-Title to Petitioner**

Carroll McGee, general partner of Congaree Associates, a South Carolina Limited Partnership, testified that he was an experienced real estate broker for a period of 50 years. *Id.*, p. 204, lines 16-18. Congaree had been formed by the McGee organization in the early 1980's. Congaree purchased the 500 acre tract of land that contained the Petitioner and Respondent's properties and fifty (50') foot road in dispute. *Id.*, p. 205, lines 13-16; p. 206, lines 1-15.

In August 1983, Congaree recorded a subdivision plat for Westchester Phase I, containing 13 lots, which borders S.C. Highway 6. This property is immediately adjacent to the fifty (50') foot road which borders the Petitioner's property on the southern side. (Robert E. Collingwood (hereinafter referred to as "Collingwood") was the surveyor for this plat. *Id.*, pp. 396-398, Defendant's Exhibit J.

On January 27, 1984, Westchester Phase II, prepared for Congaree, which is a second portion of Westchester Subdivision and borders Phase I, shows the disputed fifty (50') foot road on the plat for Westchester Phase II. Collingwood also prepared this plat for Congaree, which was submitted to the Lexington County Planning Commission for approval. *Id.*, p. 405, Defendant's Exhibit GG. The fifty (50') foot road abuts both Lot 13 of Westchester Phase I and what later becomes Petitioner/predecessor's property. *Id.*, pp. 396-398, Defendant's Exhibit J.

On July 15, 1985, Mike Chris, Lexington County Planning Commission, sends a letter giving provisional County approval for the proposed platted Phase II of Westchester Subdivision prepared by Collingwood. The letter contained the standard county requirements for private road subdivisions. *Id.*, p. 406, Defendant's Exhibit KK.

On December 10, 1985, James T. Loflin (Petitioner's predecessor-in-title), who was a McGee employee/agent, has a plat prepared for the purpose of living on the corner lot (Petitioner's property) next to the fifty (50') foot road entrance to proposed subdivision in a model log cabin home. Collingwood was the surveyor of the subject property. *Id.*, p. 377, Plaintiff's Exhibit 2.

On April 4, 1986, Collingwood revised the plat to show the proposed dwelling, well, septic tank and field. *Id.* Thereafter, on August 12, 1986, Collingwood again revises said plat to indicate a twenty (20') foot strip along the northern boundary of the lot. *Id.*

On September 11, 1986, Congaree, by Carroll McGee as its general partner, conveys the lot to Loflin, his employee agent, by deed incorporating the plat showing the fifty (50') foot road with plat prepared by the surveyor Collingwood. *Id.*, 379-391, Plaintiff's Exhibit 11.

McGee testified he never discussed the road with Loflin or Collingwood or anyone else. *Id.*, p. 209, lines 14-18. McGee testified he never intended to build Phase II road shown on proposed plat given conditional approval by the Planning Commission because it costs too much. *Id.* McGee also testified that he assumed he did review the plat that was used in the Loflin deed prior to the conveyance to Mr. Loflin. *Id.*, p. 236, lines 21-25. McGee admits that Collingwood who prepared the plat for Westchester Phase II would have known when he prepared the plat for the Petitioner's predecessor-in-title (Loflin) about the fifty (50') foot road area on the Loflin plat was the same as the fifty (50') foot road on the Westchester Phase II plat. *Id.*, p. 236, lines 1-11. McGee admits Collingwood had something to go by to show the road area on the Loflin plat, that being the proposed, conditionally approved, road on the Westchester Phase II plat. *Id.*

McGee testified he did see the plat and the deed for Loflin and it was executed by him for Congaree. *Id.*, p. 236, lines 21-25. McGee confirms there was no affirmative action by anyone on behalf of Congaree that gave any information to the Petitioner to not use that area that he had been using since the purchase of the property for his access. *Id.*, p. 241, lines 13-19.

ARGUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 242, SCAR, the Petitioner moved for a Writ of Certiorari and asked this Court to review and reverse the Court of Appeals' Opinion No. 5366, which reversed the Master's decision and ruling on several issues. Petitioner asked this Court to review because of the special and important issues raised by the Opinion's ruling below. Petitioner's contention was that the Court of Appeals' Ruling should be reviewed because the ruling was in direct

contraction with existing South Carolina Supreme Court case law as to implied easements and misapplied *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 561, 575, 635 S.E.2d 660, 668 (Ct. App. 2006) and *Lancaster v. Smithco, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 464, 469, 144 S.E.2d 209, 211 (1965) to implied easement case law. Lastly, the Opinion misapplies the standard of review of the Court of Appeals in that there was substantial evidence supporting the factual finding of the Master that the original grantor intended to create an implied easement in the original conveyance of the Petitioner's property.

On March 21, 2016, Petitioner filed its Petition for Writ of Certiorari. By Order dated May 20, 2017, Petitioner's Petitioner for Writ of Certiorari was granted.

I. By concluding that the Master erred in determining Gooldy was entitled to the presumption of an easement based on the deed's reference to the Loflin plat based on the language in the Loflin deed describing the property as containing 0.68 acres, more or less, the South Carolina Court of Appeals contradicts and misapplies Supreme Court case law as to implied easements.

The Master was correct in determining that Petitioner was entitled to the presumption of an easement based on the deed's reference to the Loflin plat. The Court of Appeals initially relied on the prior decisions of *Lancaster* and *Bennett* to indicate there was not a presumption. See *Lancaster v. Smithco, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 464, 469, 144 S.E.2d 209, 211 (1965); *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 561, 575, 635 S.E.2d 660, 668 (Ct. App. 2006). Those cases held that "a plat 'is not an index to encumbrances,' and a deed that references a plat 'for descriptive purposes does not incorporate a notation thereon as to an easement held by a third party so as to exclude such easement from the covenant against encumbrances in the absence of a clear intention that is so operate.'" *Lancaster*, at 469. The Court of Appeal's reliance on *Lancaster* is misplaced.

The fact situation in *Lancaster* and *Bennett* are not analogous to our set of facts. *Bennett* held that the grantor does not warrant or covenant the width of an existing highway right of way easement by incorporating a plat that incorrectly states the width of a preexisting SCDOT easement. The right of way was a SCDOT right of way in the prior chain of title. *Bennett* did not hold that there was no easement as shown on the plat rather than the width as portrayed on the incorporated plat was wrong. Relying on *Bennett*, the Court of Appeals held that the Gooldy implied easement did not exist which is contrary to the *Bennett* ruling.

Furthermore, the Gooldy implied easement is not an encumbrance, as the SCDOT easement is in *Bennett*. The encumbrance in the *Bennett* case was a portion of the SCDOT right of way existed within the boundaries of the property purchased by the grantee. Our easement is contiguous to our property. Our easement is an easement created based on the conveyance by the grantor to the grantee in our case and instead of being an encumbrance on a property, it is a benefit to the property created by law.

Furthermore, our easement is not an easement held by a “third party” so as to exclude said easement created by the deed. SCDOT is the third party in the *Bennett* case. There is no third party in our case holding an easement, only the grantor and grantee.

The Court of Appeals did recognize in its Opinion the general rule “that when an owner conveys subdivided lots and references the plat in the deed, the owner grants the lot owners an easement over the streets appearing in the plat.” *Id.* at 92, 659 S.E.2d 154. Nonetheless, the Court opines “Gooldy’s deed references the Loflin plat in a paragraph describing the .68 acre tract. The paragraph does not provide the metes and bounds of the property. However, the sentence following the reference to the Loflin plat states, “The within described property contains .68 acre more or less.” We find this sentence refers to the property described in the

Loflin plat. In our view, the deed references the Loflin plat for descriptive purposes – to show the metes and bounds of the .68 acre tract – not for the purpose of granting an easement in favor of the .68 acre tract over an alleged road depicted outside the boundaries of the property.”

Petitioner contends the .68 acre reference in the Gooldy deed prepared by the surveyor, was not for the purpose of excluding an easement to Gooldy, but to comply with the land surveying standards §49-460(j) of the South Carolina Code of State Regulations. “The area of the parcel of tract surveyed will be shown consistent with the class of survey or at least to the nearest one-hundredth (0.01) of an acre.” This section is requiring the denotation of the amount of acreage (0.68 acre) involved in the conveyance for the purpose of being in compliance with the surveying standards, not for the purpose of excluding easement areas created by this denotation.

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