THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

SEP 7

James O. Spence, Master in Equity

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000588

---

Published Opinion No. 5366  
(S.C. Ct. App. filed December 9, 2015)

---

David R. Gooldy,

Petitioner,

vs.

The Storage Center – Platt Springs, LLC,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Robert E. Stepp  
S.C. Bar No.: 5335  
[rstepp@sowellgray.com](mailto:rstepp@sowellgray.com)  
Bess J. DuRant  
S.C. Bar No.: 77920  
[bdurant@sowellgray.com](mailto:bdurant@sowellgray.com)  
SOWELL GRAY ROBINSON STEPP &  
LAFFITTE, LLC  
1310 Gadsden Street

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

### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals correctly held that no implied easement was created by the incorporation of the Loflin Plat because it was incorporated solely for the purposes of describing the boundaries of the property. South Carolina law is clear that easements shown on a plat do not become part of the deed when the plat is incorporated for the purpose of describing the property conveyed. *Lancaster v. Smithco, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 464, 469, 144 S.E.2d 209, 211 (1965). The Loflin Plat conveyed the property inside the boundary lines – nothing more, nothing less.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded there was no evidence to support a conclusion that the parties intended to create an implied easement. To the contrary, the record is replete with evidence that the parties did not intend to create an easement. Congaree Associates' principal testified there was no intent. The deed, as a matter of law, reveals there was no intent. The fact that no road ever existed shows there was no intent to create an implied easement. The application of the undisputed facts to these uncontroversial principles of property law compelled the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned and amply supported decision.

**I. THE DEED INCORPORATED THE LOFLIN PLAT SOLELY FOR DESCRIPTIVE PURPOSES AND DID NOT CREATE AN EASEMENT.**

The Court of Appeals correctly adhered to the principle that incorporation of a plat into a deed in order to describe the property does not serve to convey or incorporate easements or other encumbrances on the plat. To the contrary, “[w]hen a deed describes land as shown on a certain plat, such plat becomes part of the deed for the purpose of showing the boundaries, metes, courses and distances of the property conveyed.” *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 561, 574, 635 S.E.2d 660, 667 (Ct. App. 2006). Thus, while the deed incorporates the plat for the purpose of showing the boundaries of the property, it does *not* incorporate the plat for any other purpose.

This Court addressed precisely this issue in *Lancaster v. Smithco, Inc.*, 246 S.C. 464, 144 S.E.2d 209 (1965). In *Lancaster*, a deed referenced a plat that depicted a publicly recorded gas pipeline easement that ran across the owner's property. *Id.* at 466-67, 144 S.E.2d at 210. The issue was whether the depiction of the easement on the plat that was incorporated into the deed was sufficient to give notice to the purchaser of the existence of the easement. *Id.* at 466, 144 S.E.2d at 210. This Court held that while “the reference to the recorded plat made it a part of deed *for the purpose of showing the boundaries, metes, courses, and distances of the property conveyed,*” *id.* at 469, 144 S.E.2d at 211 (emphasis added), it did not make the easement shown

on the plat part of the deed. In other words, the plat did not become part of the deed to reflect the easement even when the easement existed within the boundary lines on the plat. *Id.* This is true even though (1) the easement was properly recorded in the public records, (2) ran across the owner's property, and (3) was depicted on a recorded subdivision plat which was incorporated into the deed's legal description.<sup>5</sup> *Id.* This Court concluded, as follows:

A plat . . . is not an index to encumbrances, and the mere reference in a deed . . . to a plat for descriptive purposes does not incorporate a notation thereon as to an easement held by a third party so as to exclude such easement from the covenant against encumbrances in the absence of the clear intention that it so operates.

*Id.* Consequently, a plat that is referenced in a deed for descriptive purposes becomes a part of the deed *only* to provide the boundaries of the property conveyed, and therefore, references to easements on the plat do not become part of the deed, as a matter of law.

When this principle is applied to the present case, it is clear that the reference on the Loflin Plat to the "road" did not convey any rights regarding the "road" to Loflin or to any subsequent purchaser. Like the deed in *Lancaster*, the deed to Loflin (and the deed to Gooldy) incorporates the plat solely for descriptive purposes. Thus, Congaree Associates cannot, as a matter of law, be deemed to have created a right in a non-existent road because it signed a deed that incorporated a plat that showed a "road" that was not part of the description of the property being conveyed. The incorporation of the Loflin Plat only served to convey the 0.68 acres within the boundary lines on the plat. The Court of Appeals correctly refrained from looking outside of the boundary lines on the Loflin Plat to infer the existence of a road or an easement to use it. It properly concluded the

---

<sup>5</sup> By contrast, Gooldy's alleged easement is implied, and therefore, not recorded in the Lexington County records. His alleged easement does not run across or burden his property. Rather, it runs outside of the boundary lines of his property as depicted on the Loflin Plat. Finally, Gooldy's alleged easement was depicted on an individual lot plat, not a recorded subdivision plat.

50' road notation did not become part of the deed to Loflin. Consequently, no basis exists to conclude that Gooldy received any rights in the alleged 50' road by means of the plat. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that no presumption of an easement arose in favor of Gooldy.<sup>6</sup>

Gooldy argues that the Court of Appeals' reliance on *Lancaster* and *Bennett* is misplaced. (Br. of Pet'r 9-10.) However, the comparison of *Lancaster* to the present case as outlined in footnote 5 does not support a distinction, but rather supports the application of this principle to these facts. Similarly, *Bennett* serves to strengthen, not diminish, the conclusion that no implied easement ever existed. Gooldy argues that *Bennett* only concerns the width (not existence) of an easement. But *Bennett* relies on a series of cases that stand for the principle of law that the incorporation of a plat becomes part of the deed to show "the boundaries, metes, courses, and distances of the property conveyed." *Bennett*, 370 S.C. at 594, 635 S.E.2d at 657. It then uses this unequivocal principle to conclude that the parties incorporated the plat to show the boundary lines of the property conveyed, not to warrant the width of the right of way. *Id.* at 594-95, 635 S.E.2d at 657-58.<sup>7</sup> There is nothing in the *Bennett* or *Lancaster* opinions to suggest that this well-

---

<sup>6</sup> Even if such a presumption existed, it is rebuttable. *See, e.g., Blue Ridge Realty Co. v. Williamson*, 247 S.C. 112, 118, 145 S.E.2d 922, 925 (1965); *Inlet Harbour v. S.C. Dep't of Parks, Recreation, & Tourism*, 377 S.C. 86, 93, 659 S.E.2d 151, 154-55 (2008) (stating "the rule applied in *Blue Ridge* is nothing more than a presumption" that can be overcome by the developer's intent). Any conceivable presumption was rebutted by Congaree Associates' principal's uncontradicted testimony that Congaree Associates did not intend to create or convey any easement rights to Loflin and his successors.

<sup>7</sup> Additionally, Gooldy tries to distinguish *Bennett* by claiming the alleged implied easement is (1) "not an encumbrance, as the SCDOT easement is in *Bennett*"; and, (2) not "held by a 'third party' so as to exclude said easement created by the deed." (Br. of Pet'r 10.) These distinctions make no difference. First, the alleged easement would still be an encumbrance. *See Black's Law Dictionary* 449 (8th ed. 2005) (defining "encumbrance" as "[a] claim or liability that is attached to property or some other right and that may lessen its value, such as a lien or mortgage; any property right that is not an ownership interest."). Second, the deed does not exclude an easement. Rather, there is no evidence to support that an easement even exists. Stated differently,

established principle may only be applied in cases involving the warranty of an easement's width. The Court of Appeals properly applied *Lancaster* and *Bennett*.

Gooldy tries to avoid the results of *Lancaster* and *Bennett* by arguing *McAllister v. Smiley*, 301 S.C. 10, 389 S.E.2d 857 (1990) controls.<sup>8</sup> Gooldy states the property description in this case and *McAllister* are "identical," and therefore, this Court should find that an implied easement exists in this matter, as it did in *McCallister* when a road abutted the at-issue tract. (Br. of Pet'r 11.) This argument fails for many reasons. First and foremost, no road has ever existed, thwarting the underpinning of Petitioner's argument. Moreover, *McAllister* is distinguishable because in that case (1) the deed referred to the tract as being bounded by the road in question; (2) the road had width and length dimensions shown on the plat; (3) the plat was prepared for the common grantors; and (4) the plat was of more than one parcel. *McAllister*, 217 S.C. at 10-12, 389 S.E.2d at 858-59. Here, the deed to Loflin does not refer to the "50' road," much less describe the lot as being bounded by the "50' road." The road never existed, and therefore, the road had no width or length dimensions in the Loflin Plat. The Loflin Plat was prepared for Loflin, not Congaree Associates, and the Loflin Plat was only a plat of one parcel. (App. p. 377.) *McAllister* does not support Gooldy's argument, and *Lancaster* and *Bennett* remain the controlling authorities.

---

there is no easement to exclude. Moreover, it is irrelevant that a third party held the easement in *Bennett*.

<sup>8</sup> Gooldy also argues the 0.68 acre reference in the deed "was not for the purpose of excluding an easement to Gooldy, but to comply with the land surveying standards § 49-460(j) of the South Carolina Code of Regulations." (Br. of Pet'r 11.) Again, this statement presumes an easement exists. The Court of Appeals did not conclude that the alleged easement should be excluded. Rather, it concluded there was no evidence to support that an implied easement exists.

**II. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE PARTIES INTENDED TO CREATE AN IMPLIED EASEMENT.**

The creation of an easement is a question of intent. Easements by implication “must be determined as of the time of the severance of the ownerships of the tracts involved.” *Boyd v. BellSouth Tel. Tel. Co., Inc.*, 369 S.C. 410, 416, 633 S.E.2d 136, 139 (2006). Courts examine the intentions of the parties to the conveyance to determine whether an implied easement exists. *See Murrells Inlet Corp. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 235, 662 S.E.2d 452, 456-57 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding “the intentions of the parties to the transaction are the overriding focus when examining implied easements.”). Implied easements are not favored and must be strictly construed “because the implication of an easement in a conveyance goes against the general rule that a written instrument speaks for itself.” *Inlet Harbour v. S.C. Dep’t of Parks, Recreation, & Tourism*, 377 S.C. 86, 91-92, 659 S.E.2d 151, 154 (2008).

When analyzing whether a grantor intended to create an easement, courts may look to the deed as well as other evidence of intent. *Inlet Harbor*, 377 S.C. at 91-92, 659 S.E.2d at 154. (rejecting argument that court should only look to plat reference in deed to determine whether parties intended to create an implied easement). When examining a deed, the court must focus on the intention of the parties. *See Gardner v. Mozingo*, 293 S.C. 23, 25, 358 S.E.2d 390, 391 (1987); *Milton P. Demetre Family Ltd P’ship v. Beckmann*, 413 S.C. 38, 54–55, 773 S.E.2d 596, 605 (Ct. App. 2014) (“In construing a deed, the court must determine the intent of the grantor.”). “One of the first canons of construction of a deed is that the intention of the grantor must be ascertained and effectuated if no settled rule of law is contravened.” *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 561, 570, 635 S.E.2d 660, 665 (Ct. App. 2006) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Consequently, courts must construe the deed “as a whole, and effect given to every part thereof, if such can be done consistently with the law.” *Id.* at 571, 635 S.E.2d at 665.

“The question as to the purpose and effect of a reference to a plat in a deed is ordinarily one as to the intention of the parties to be determined from the whole instrument and the circumstances surrounding its execution.” *Id.* at 574, 635 S.E.2d at 667 (quoting *Lancaster*, 246 S.C at 468, 144 S.E.2d at 211 (emphasis added)). Therefore, a court is not limited to the deed to determine intent. It can look to “the circumstances surrounding its execution.” Additionally, it can look to evidence after the execution of the deed because the subsequent evidence may show that prior intent to create an easement never existed.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly found that there is no evidence in the record that reasonably supports a finding that the common grantor intended to create an easement. To the contrary, the uncontroverted evidence establishes that there was never any such intent. First, the incorporation of the Loflin Plat into the deed is not evidence of any intent as a matter of law. Second, the principal of the common grantor testified that there was no intent to create an easement at the time of severance. This testimony is consistent with and supported by the fact that no road was ever built, as reflected in plats drafted by the same surveyor who drafted the Loflin Plat. The record contains no evidence that there was any intent to create an easement.

**A. The Deed Does Not Express Intent to Convey an Easement.**

As previously discussed, the *Lancaster* rule provides, as a matter of law, that easements on a plat do not become part of the deed when the plat is incorporated for descriptive purposes. *Lancaster*, 246 S.C. at 469, 144 S.E.2d at 211. The reference to the Loflin Plat in the deed to Loflin is therefore not evidence of intent to create an easement.

**B. The Uncontroverted Testimony of the Common Grantor Establishes the Lack of Intent to Create an Easement.**

Carroll McGee, the principal of Congaree Associates, unequivocally testified that there was never any intent to establish any easement rights when Congaree Associates conveyed the Gooldy Parcel to Loflin.<sup>9</sup> It did not intend to create or convey any rights in a non-existent 50' road to Loflin. (App. pp. 228:13 – 229:6.) By referencing the Loflin Plat, Congaree Associates only intended to convey the property within the boundary lines, *i.e.* the Gooldy Parcel. (App. pp. 228:8 – 229:12.) By allowing the deed that referenced the Loflin Plat to be recorded, Congaree Associates did not intend to create an easement. (App. pp. 228:13 – 229:13.) There is no evidence to the contrary. No easement existed at the time Congaree Associates severed its parcel and sold the Gooldy Parcel to Loflin, and therefore, no easement exists today.

**C. No Road Has Ever Existed.**

The absence of intent to grant an easement over a road is most plainly evidenced by the fact that no road was ever constructed. Neither Congaree Associates nor any of its predecessors or successors in title ever caused a road to be built. (App. pp. 208:25-209:3; App. p. 209:20-25; App. p. 232:17-19; *see also* App. p. 404.) No road existed at the time Gooldy purchased his parcel. (App. pp. 160:14-161:2.) None of the recorded plats shows a survey of a road. (App. pp. 396 -

---

<sup>9</sup> The Court of Appeals properly considered the testimony of Carroll McGee with respect to the intent surrounding the alleged easement. As discussed above, because (1) an implied easement “goes against the general rule that a written instrument speaks for itself [.]” *Inlet Harbour*, 377 S.C. at 91-92, 659 S.E.2d at 154, and (2) the intention of the parties referencing a plat in a deed must be “determined from the whole instrument and the circumstances surrounding its execution[.]” *Bennett*, 370 S.C. at 574, 635 S.E.2d at 667, a court cannot limit itself to the deed to determine the parties’ intent. *See also Inlet Harbor*, 377 S.C. at 93, 659 S.E.2d at 155 (“Thus, to the extent the [claimant of the easement] urges this Court to ignore everything except the deed’s reference to a residential subdivision plat, this argument fails to remain true to the principles underlying implied easements.”).

401.) Lexington County's TMS map shows no road. (App. p. 402.) The most recent surveyor of the subject property testified that no road existed (App. p. 249:10-22), as did The Storage Center's expert (App. p. 301:7-13; App. p. 312:12-15).

**D. Subsequent Plats Show No Road.**

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